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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS

EASTERN DIVISION
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, )
) Case No. 15-3283
Plaintiff, )
)
V. )
)
IRVING BROWN, SR., d/b/a )
IRVING BROWN SR. TAX SERVICES, )
)
Defendant. )
)

COMPLAINT FOR PERMANENT INJUNCTION AND OTHER RELIEF
The United States of America, at the request of the Chief Counsel of the Internal Revenue
Service, a delegate of the Secretary of the Treasury, and at the direction of a delegate of the
Attorney General, seeks a permanent injunction against defendant Irving Brown, Sr.,
individually and doing business as Irving Brown Sr. Tax Services, from acting as a federal tax
return preparer and from engaging in conduct subject to penalty under the Internal Revenue Code
(26 U.S.C) (the “Code”).
Jurisdiction

1. Jurisdiction is conferred on this Court by 28 U.S.C. §§ 1340 and 1345 and 26 U.S.C. §§
7402(a), 7407, and 7408.

2. The defendant Irving Brown, Sr. (“Brown Sr.”) currently resides and does business

within the jurisdiction of this Court.
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The Defendant

3. Brown Sr. is a paid tax return preparer who has prepared and filed federal income tax
returns for taxpayers in the Chicago area since 1999. Brown Sr. operates a seasonal tax return
preparation business out of his home in Chicago, under the name Irving Brown Sr. Tax Services.

4. The Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) assigned Irving Brown Sr. Tax Services an
Electronic Filing ID Number (“EFIN”). The IRS assigns an EFIN to firms that have completed
an application process and have passed a suitability check to become an authorized IRS e-file
provider able to file returns electronically. Since January 1, 2012, IRS regulations have required
any tax return preparer who anticipates preparing and filing 11 or more Forms 1040, 1040A,
1040EZ and 1041 during a calendar year to obtain an EFIN and use IRS e-file.

5. OnJanuary 8, 2015, the IRS suspended the EFIN of Irving Brown Sr. Tax Services.
However, Brown Sr. has continued to prepare and transmit taxes to the IRS using the EFIN
assigned to The Jordan Taylor Group LLC, which is another Chicago-area tax preparation
business.

6. The IRS assigns every return preparer a unique identification number, called a PTIN
(Preparer Tax Identification Number), which must be affixed to every return the preparer files.

7. Asof April 1, 2015, Brown Sr. has prepared and filed over 100 tax returns this year,
using both his own PTIN and another, incorrect, PTIN that transposes two digits in his assigned
PTIN. The incorrect PTIN makes it appear that another, unrelated preparer in Illinois is filing

returns using the EFIN assigned to The Jordan Taylor Group LLC.

11909716.5



Case: 1:15-cv-03283 Document #: 1 Filed: 04/14/15 Page 3 of 24 PagelD #:3

8. Brown Sr. holds himself out as a knowledgeable and experienced income tax return
preparer.

9. Brown Sr. does not hold any professional or business licenses. He claims that his tax
return preparation training consists of taking a six or seven week tax preparation class in 2009,
completing 40 hours of online continuing education training in 2010, attending IRS webinar
presentations, and utilizing online training resources.

10. For at least five years, Brown Sr. has been assisted in tax return preparation on an
occasional basis by his son, Irving Brown II (“Brown II”’). According to Brown Sr., Brown II
only assists Brown Sr. in the preparation of returns and does not himself prepare or finalize the
returns. Brown II does not have a PTIN.

11. For at least five years, Brown Sr. has been assisted in tax return preparation by his
daughter, Tuiana Brown. Tuiana Brown obtained a PTIN in 2013 and filed returns under her own
PTIN in 2013 and 2014.

12. Asof April 1, 2015, Brown Sr. has prepared and filed a total of 107 tax returns this year.
Of these, 14 were prepared and filed under Brown Sr.’s own PTIN and 92 were prepared and
filed under a PTIN of an unrelated, legitimate tax preparer whose PTIN is similar to that of
Brown Sr.

13. In 2014, 445 tax returns were prepared and filed under the name Irving Brown Sr. Tax
Services and 270 returns were filed under Brown Sr.’s own name.

14. In 2013, Brown Sr. prepared and filed 450 returns.

15. In 2012, Brown Sr. prepared and filed 593 returns.

16. In 2011, Brown Sr. prepared and filed 635 returns.

3
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17. According to his records, Brown Sr. charges most customers more than $400 for
preparing a personal income tax return. His records indicate that Irving Brown Tax Services
received nearly $600,000 in fees for the preparation of tax returns in 2011, 2012, and 2013.

18. Brown Sr. worked for the Chicago Fire Department starting in 1980 and retired in 2011
with the rank of Captain.

19. Many customers of Brown Sr. are firefighters with the Chicago Fire Department.

IRS Investigations into Brown Sr.’s Tax Preparation Activities

20. In 2012, the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) reviewed Brown Sr.’s tax return
preparation practices as part of an e-file Monitoring Visit. An e-file Monitoring Visit is
conducted by the IRS in order to heighten awareness of tax preparer requirements and determine
general compliance with the IRS’s return preparer rules.

21. During the e-file Monitoring Visit, IRS Examiner Jennifer Bell determined that Brown
Sr. was not in compliance with IRS rules. She found that Brown Sr. did not have a current
address and phone number on file, was not using his PTIN correctly, improperly helped his
customers create a PIN when signing their returns, failed to keep a signed Form 8879 IRS e-file
Signature Authorization for each return that was filed electronically, did not maintain Forms W-
2, W-2 G, or 1099-R for his customers, and never completed Form 8948 Preparer Explanation
for Not Filing Electronically for paper returns he filed. For these violations, Brown Sr. was
assessed civil penalties.

22. Brown Sr.’s case was referred to the Lead Development Center of the IRS for further
review of his tax return preparation activities, and the IRS began a civil investigation into Brown

Sr.’s tax preparation activities.
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23. The IRS civil investigation of the tax returns prepared by Brown Sr. and/or prepared
using the PTIN assigned to Irving Brown Sr. Tax Services reveals that Brown Sr. systematically
filed, or caused to be filed, fraudulent and abusive tax returns.

24. The IRS examined 94 of the returns prepared under Brown Sr.’s PTIN for the tax years
2011, 2012, and 2013. IRS representatives also interviewed 15 taxpayers regarding tax returns
prepared by Brown Sr. in 2013 for tax year 2012.

25. Of'the 94 returns examined for these years, all but two returns required IRS adjustments.
That is, the IRS found that 98% of the examined 2011, 2012, and 2013 tax returns prepared by
Brown Sr. misreported his customers’ tax liabilities.

26. The total tax deficiency from the 94 tax returns examined totaled $741,166, with an
average deficiency per tax return of $7,884.74. The IRS projects that the tax loss due to errors on
tax returns prepared by Brown Sr. for tax years 2011, 2012, and 2013 is well in excess of $1
million.

Brown Sr.’s Fraudulent Tax Preparation Activities

27. The goal of Brown Sr.’s tax-fraud activities is to significantly underreport the tax
liabilities of his customers and, as a result, for Brown Sr. to profit from preparing and filing
fraudulent income tax returns by charging fees for his services.

28. Brown Sr. benefits from this fraudulent activity because the results he obtains for his
customers lead to repeat business and referrals through “word of mouth” among Chicago
firefighters and other members of the community.

29. To carry out his tax-fraud schemes, Brown Sr. often prepares his customers’ tax returns

by including a fraudulent Schedule C, showing inflated or entirely fraudulent losses, in order to
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offset income on the taxpayer’s Form 1040. Schedule C is used by individual taxpayers to report
income or loss from a sole proprietorship. Brown Sr. completely fabricates expenses purportedly
incurred by his customers’ purported businesses. In reality, the taxpayer owns no business, or, if
he or she does own a business, the business-related expenses are entirely concocted by Brown Sr.

30. By fraudulently inflating Schedule C expenses, the returns prepared by Brown Sr.
purport to show that his customers have business expenses that offset earned income and the
customer is therefore entitled to a refund of income taxes previously withheld and paid to the
IRS.

31. The fraudulent tax returns prepared by Brown Sr. also commonly include false Form
1040, Schedule A itemized deductions. Schedule A is used by taxpayers who choose to itemize
deductions rather than use the standard deduction from adjusted gross income. Brown Sr.
routinely lists charitable contributions that are entirely fabricated and he often creates false
unreimbursed business expenses.

32. By creating these false Schedule A deductions, Brown Sr. is able to offset his
customers’ earned income to fraudulently obtain a refund of income taxes previously withheld
and paid to the IRS.

33. When his customers do not have enough earned income to generate income tax
refunds through fabricated Schedule A and Schedule C deductions, Brown Sr. fraudulently
inflates his customers’ Schedule C business income to show that the taxpayer is entitled to an
earned income tax credit to which he or she is, in fact, not entitled. The Earned Income Credit or

Earned Income Tax Credit, established by 26 U.S.C. § 32, is a refundable tax credit for low to
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moderate income working individuals and couples, particularly those with children. The amount
of benefit depends on a recipient’s income and number of children.

34. Brown Sr. also frequently prepares returns claiming head of household filing status for
customers who are ineligible for that status. To qualify for head of household filing status, a
taxpayer must be unmarried or considered unmarried at the end of the year, have paid more than
half the cost of keeping up a home for the tax year (either one’s own home or the home of a
qualifying parent), and, in most cases, have a qualifying person who lived in the home for more
than half of the tax year, unless the qualifying person is a dependent parent. Taxpayers who
qualify for the Head of Household filing status benefit from a higher standard deduction and
lower tax rates compared to the single or married filing separately statuses.

35. For other customers, Brown Sr. has created false Form 1040, Schedule E expenses from
rental real estate in order to create significant deductions to taxable income. Schedule E is used
to report income or loss from rental real estate, royalties, partnerships, S corporations, estates,
trusts, and residual interests in REMICs.

36. In certain instances, Brown Sr. has offered to prepare, and has prepared, false invoices
and receipts to substantiate these fraudulent expenses described above for his customers’ use in
IRS audits.

37. Some specific examples of Brown Sr.’s fraudulent tax preparation activities are as
follows:

CUSTOMER 1

38. CUSTOMER 1, of Chicago, is employed as a firefighter at the Chicago Fire
Department. He met Brown Sr. when Brown Sr. worked as a Captain at the Fire Department.

7
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39. Brown Sr. prepared and filed the 2012 income tax return for CUSTOMER 1.

40. When preparing J.A.’s 2012 income tax return, Brown Sr. created false Schedule A
deductions and Schedule C business losses without the knowledge and consent of CUSTOMER
1.

41. Brown Sr. falsely claimed that CUSTOMER 1 had a carpentry business on the Schedule
C of Form 1040. CUSTOMER 1 did not have a carpentry business and never provided Brown Sr.
information related to the false business.

42. Brown Sr. then fabricated Schedule C business expenses supposedly incurred by this
fictitious carpentry business.

43. Brown Sr. manufactured Schedule C business expenses of $24,880 in 2012 to offset
CUSTOMER 1’s income so that CUSTOMER 1 would obtain a refund to which he was not
entitled once the return was filed.

44. In addition, when preparing CUSTOMER 1’s 2012 income tax return, Brown Sr.
inflated CUSTOMER 1’s charitable contributions for the tax year 2012. Brown Sr. falsely
claimed that CUSTOMER 1 made $10,500 in cash charitable contributions, when in fact
CUSTOMER 1 advised Brown Sr. that he made about $4,800 in charitable donations in 2012.

45. Brown Sr. further misstated unreimbursed business expenses on CUSTOMER 1°s
Schedule A. The 2012 return claimed $9,490 in unreimbursed employee expenses.

46. Due to the fraudulent Schedule A and Schedule C deductions, CUSTOMER 1

underreported his tax liabilities by $8,203.
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CUSTOMER 2

47. CUSTOMER 2, of Chicago, worked in retail sales and received public assistance. She
was referred to Brown Sr. for tax preparation by a family friend.

48. Brown Sr. prepared and filed the 2012 income tax return for CUSTOMER 2.

49. When preparing CUSTOMER 2’s 2012 income tax return, Brown Sr. created false
Schedule C business profits without CUSTOMER 2’s knowledge and consent. Due to these false
business profits, CUSTOMER 2 received an Earned Income Credit refund to which she was not
entitled.

50. Brown Sr. falsely claimed that CUSTOMER 2 had a hair styling business on the
Schedule C of Form 1040. CUSTOMER 2 did not have a hair styling business and never
provided Brown Sr. information related to the false business.

51. Brown Sr. then fabricated Schedule C business expenses and profits supposedly
incurred by this fictitious hair styling business.

52. Brown Sr. manufactured Schedule C business profits of $8,084 in 2012 to increase
CUSTOMER 2’s income so that she would qualify for the Earned Income Credit and obtain a
refund when Brown Sr. filed CUSTOMER 2’s tax return.

53. Due to the fraudulent Schedule C profits and resulting Earned Income Credit,
CUSTOMER 2 received a refund of $2,392 to which she was not entitled.

CUSTOMER 3

54. CUSTOMER 3, of Chicago, is employed as a firefighter at the Chicago Fire
Department. He met Brown Sr. when Brown Sr. worked as a Captain at the Fire Department.

55. Brown Sr. prepared and filed the 2012 income tax return for CUSTOMER 3.

9
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56. When preparing CUSTOMER 3’s 2012 income tax return, Brown Sr. created false
Schedule A deductions and Schedule C business losses without CUSTOMER 3’s knowledge and
consent.

57. Brown Sr. falsely claimed that CUSTOMER 3 had a construction business on the
Schedule C of Form 1040. CUSTOMER 3 did not have a construction business and never
provided Brown Sr. information related to the false business.

58. Brown Sr. then fabricated Schedule C business expenses supposedly incurred by this
fictitious construction business.

59. Brown Sr. manufactured Schedule C business expenses of $21,994 in 2012 to offset
CUSTOMER 3’s income so that CUSTOMER 3 would obtain a refund when the tax return was
filed.

60. In addition, when preparing CUSTOMER 3’s 2012 income tax return, Brown Sr.
inflated CUSTOMER 3’s charitable contributions for the tax year 2012. Brown Sr. falsely
claimed that CUSTOMER 3 made $6,500 in cash charitable contributions and $480 in non-cash
contributions, when in fact CUSTOMER 3 made about $150 in charitable donations in 2012.

61. Brown Sr. further misstated unreimbursed business expenses on CUSTOMER 3’s
Schedule A. The 2012 return claimed $10,262 in unreimbursed employee expenses. However,
CUSTOMER 3 did not incur these expenses and did not discuss with or provide Brown Sr. any
information regarding such expenses. The claimed expenses were falsified on CUSTOMER 3’s
2012 tax return by Brown Sr.

62. Due to the fraudulent Schedule A and Schedule C deductions, CUSTOMER 3
underreported his tax liability by $9,088.

10
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CUSTOMER 4

63. CUSTOMER 4, of Chicago, is employed as a medical assistant. She was referred to
Brown Sr. through word-of-mouth.

64. Brown Sr. prepared and filed the 2012 income tax return for CUSTOMER 4.

65. When preparing CUSTOMER 4’s 2012 income tax return, Brown Sr. created false
Schedule A deductions and Schedule C business losses without CUSTOMER 4’s knowledge and
consent.

66. Brown Sr. claimed that CUSTOMER 4 had a home healthcare agency on the Schedule
C of Form 1040. CUSTOMER 4 did not have a home healthcare business and never provided
Brown Sr. information related to the false business.

67. Brown Sr. then fabricated Schedule C business expenses supposedly incurred by this
fictitious healthcare business.

68. Brown Sr. manufactured Schedule C business expenses of $16,545 in 2012 to offset
CUSTOMER 4’s income so that she would obtain a refund when Brown Sr. filed CUSTOMER
4’s tax return.

69. In addition, when preparing CUSTOMER 4’s 2012 income tax return, Brown Sr. inflated
CUSTOMER 4’s charitable contributions for the tax year 2012 on her Schedule A form. Brown
Sr. falsely claimed that CUSTOMER 4 made $2,150 in cash charitable contributions and $462 in
non-cash contributions, when in fact CUSTOMER 4 did not discuss or provide Brown Sr. with
any documents showing the amount of charitable contributions she made during the 2012 tax

year.
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70. Brown Sr. further misstated unreimbursed business expenses on CUSTOMER 4’s
Schedule A. The 2012 return claimed $10,987 in unreimbursed employee expenses. However,
CUSTOMER 4 did not discuss with or provide Brown Sr. any information regarding such
expenses. The claimed expenses were falsified on CUSTOMER 4’s 2012 tax return by Brown
Sr.

71. Brown Sr. also claimed Head of Household status on CUSTOMER 4’s Form 1040.
However, CUSTOMER 4 was ineligible for that status because she was married and lived with
her husband in the same residence in 2012.

72. Due to the fraudulent Schedule A and Schedule C deductions, CUSTOMER 4
underreported her tax liability by $6,186.

CUSTOMER 5

73. CUSTOMER 5, of Chicago, was an engineer. He was referred to Brown Sr. through
word-of-mouth.

74. Brown Sr. prepared and filed the 2011 and 2012 income tax returns for CUSTOMER 5.

75. When preparing CUSTOMER 5’s 2011 and 2012 income tax returns, Brown Sr. created
false Schedule A deductions and Schedule C business losses without CUSTOMER 5’s
knowledge and consent.

76. Brown Sr. fabricated Schedule C gross receipts and business expenses supposedly
incurred by CUSTOMER 5. However, CUSTOMER 5 never provided books and records to

Brown Sr. and never incurred the profits and expenses stated.
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77. Brown Sr. manufactured Schedule C business expenses of $22,553 in 2011and $25,481
in 2012 to offset CUSTOMER 5’s income so that CUSTOMER 5 would obtain a refund when
Brown Sr. filed CUSTOMER 5’s tax return.

78. When CUSTOMER 5 informed Brown Sr. that his tax return was going to be audited by
the IRS, Brown Sr. prepared false work orders, blank receipts, and invoices to substantiate the
fraudulent Schedule C forms.

79. In addition, when preparing CUSTOMER 5°s 2011 income tax return, Brown Sr.
misstated unreimbursed business expenses on CUSTOMER 5°s Schedule A. The 2011 return
claimed $6,284 in unreimbursed employee expenses. However, CUSTOMER 5 did not discuss
with or provide Brown Sr. any information regarding such expenses. The claimed expenses were
falsified on CUSTOMER 5’s 2011 tax return by Brown Sr.

80. Due to the fraudulent Schedule A and Schedule C deductions, CUSTOMER 5
underreported his tax liabilities in the amount of $5,992.33 for tax year 2011 and $5,573.82 in
tax year 2012.

CUSTOMER 6

81. CUSTOMER 6, of Chicago, is employed as a firefighter at the Chicago Fire
Department. He met Brown Sr. when Brown Sr. worked as a Captain at the Fire Department.

82. Brown Sr. prepared and filed the 2011 and 2012 income tax returns for CUSTOMER 6.

83. When preparing CUSTOMER 6’s 2011 and 2012 income tax returns, Brown Sr. created
false Schedule A deductions and Schedule C business losses without CUSTOMER 6’s

knowledge and consent.
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84. Brown Sr. falsely claimed that CUSTOMER 6 had a painting business on Schedule C of
Form 1040. CUSTOMER 6 did not have a painting business and never provided Brown Sr.
information related to the false business.

85. Brown Sr. then fabricated Schedule C business expenses supposedly incurred by this
fictitious painting business.

86. Brown Sr. manufactured Schedule C business expenses of $23,151 in 2011 and $19,197
in 2012 to offset CUSTOMER 6’s income so that he would obtain a refund when he filed
CUSTOMER 6’s tax return.

87. In addition, when preparing CUSTOMER 6’s 2011 and 2012 income tax returns, Brown
Sr. reported rental income and expenses reflecting losses on Schedule E for a property that
CUSTOMER 6 owned and occupied as his personal residence. CUSTOMER 6 did not provide
Brown Sr. information related to the income and expenses and the IRS does not permit a
deduction for expenses associated with a taxpayers’ personal residence.

88. Due to the fraudulent Schedule A and Schedule C deductions, CUSTOMER 6
underreported his tax liabilities in the amount of $12,297 in 2011 and $13,164 in 2012.

CUSTOMER 7

89. CUSTOMER 7, of Chicago, is an analyst. She was referred to Brown Sr. through her
husband, CUSTOMER 6, who is a firefighter with the Chicago Fire Department.

90. Brown Sr. prepared and filed the 2011 and 2012 income tax returns for CUSTOMER 7.

91. When preparing CUSTOMER 7’s 2011 and 2012 income tax returns, Brown Sr. created
false Schedule A deductions and Schedule C business losses without CUSTOMER 7’s

knowledge and consent.
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92. Brown Sr. falsely claimed that CUSTOMER 7 had a travel services business on
Schedule C of Form 1040. CUSTOMER 7 did not have a travel services business and never
provided Brown Sr. information related to the false business.

93. Brown Sr. then fabricated Schedule C business expenses supposedly incurred by this
fictitious travel services business.

94. Brown Sr. manufactured Schedule C business expenses of $22,447 in 2012 and $21,819
in 2011 to offset CUSTOMER 7’s income so that she would obtain a refund when Brown Sr.
filed CUSTOMER 7’s tax return.

95. In addition, when preparing CUSTOMER 7°s 2011 and 2012 income tax returns, Brown
Sr. inflated charitable contributions on her Schedule A forms. Brown Sr. falsely claimed that
CUSTOMER 7 made $4,670 in charitable contributions in 2012 and $4,665 in charitable
contributions in 2011, when in fact CUSTOMER 7 did not discuss or provide Brown Sr. with
any documents showing the amount of charitable contributions she made during the 2011 and
2012 tax years.

96. In addition, when preparing CUSTOMER 7’s 2011 and 2012 income tax returns, Brown
Sr. misstated unreimbursed business expenses on CUSTOMER 7°s Schedule A. The 2012 return
claimed $8,717 and the 2011 return claimed $3,941 in unreimbursed employee expenses.
However, CUSTOMER 7 did not discuss with or provide Brown Sr. any information regarding
such expenses. The claimed expenses were falsified on CUSTOMER 7°s 2011 and 2012 tax

returns by Brown Sr.
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97. When CUSTOMER 7 informed Brown Sr. that her 2011 tax return was going to be
audited by the IRS, Brown Sr. advised her to “go along with the return” as filed and promised to
provide her with false documentation to support the return that he had prepared.

98. Due to the fraudulent Schedule A and Schedule C deductions, CUSTOMER 7
underreported her tax liability in the amount of $8,377 for tax year 2011 and $8,970 in tax year
2012.

Harm to the United States

99. The fraudulent returns Brown Sr. has prepared and filed have caused and continue to
cause substantial harm to the Government by fraudulently reducing customers’ reported tax
liabilities, helping taxpayers to obtain fraudulent refunds and evade taxes, and by obstructing the
IRS’s efforts to administer the federal tax laws.

100. Brown Sr.’s fraudulent conduct — which is essentially stealing from the United
States Treasury — has caused significant damage to the fisc. The IRS’s audits show an actual
harm to the United States of $741,166. Because just a portion of Brown Sr.’s returns were
audited, the IRS estimates that the harm done to the United States due to errors on tax returns
prepared by Brown Sr. for tax years 2011, 2012, and 2013 is well in excess of $1 million.

101. The United States is also harmed because the IRS must devote some of its limited
resources to investigating Brown Sr.’s conduct as a tax return preparer, detecting and examining
inaccurate and fraudulent returns filed by Brown Sr., and attempting to assess and collect from

his customers’ unpaid taxes and penalties, some of which may not be collectible.
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102. The United States is also harmed by Brown Sr.’s repeated use of a PTIN that did
not belong to him, an action that actively thwarts the IRS’s ability to administer the Internal
Revenue Code and to identify fraudulent tax preparers.

103. The United States is also harmed by Brown Sr.’s attempts to assist his customers
in falsifying receipts and invoices in preparation for audits, actions that actively thwart the IRS’s
ability to administer the Internal Revenue Code and to identify fraudulent tax preparers.

104. Brown Sr.’s customers have been harmed because they have paid him to prepare
tax returns, and they now face large tax deficiencies and may be liable for sizable penalties and
interest as a result.

105. In addition to the direct monetary and administrative harm caused by preparing
returns that understate customers’ tax liabilities, Brown Sr.’s illegal activities undermine public
confidence in the administration of the federal tax system and encourage noncompliance with the
internal revenue laws.

106. Brown Sr.’s illegal conduct also causes intangible harm to honest tax return
preparers, because by preparing returns that falsely or fraudulently underreport his customers’
tax liabilities and inflate his customers’ refunds, he gains an unfair competitive advantage over

tax return preparers who do not do so and who as a result may have fewer customers.

COUNT I: Injunction under 26 U.S.C. § 7407 for Violation of 26 U.S.C. §§ 6694 and 6695

107. The United States incorporates by reference the allegations in paragraphs 1

through 106.
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108. A court is authorized to enjoin an income tax return preparer who engages in
conduct subject to penalty under Code sections 6694 or 6695, pursuant to 26 U.S.C. § 7407.

109. Code section 7701(a)(36) defines a “tax return preparer” as a person who prepares
for compensation, or who employs one or more persons to prepare for compensation, any return
or a substantial portion thereof.

110. Brown Sr. is a tax return preparer within the meaning of section 7701(a)(36).

111. Code section 6694(a) penalizes a tax return preparer if: (1) the preparer prepares a
return or claim for refund that includes an understatement of liability due to a position for which
there is not a realistic possibility of being sustained on the merits; (2) the preparer knew (or
reasonably should have known) of such position; and (3) the position was not properly disclosed
or was frivolous.

112. Code section 6694(b) penalizes a tax return preparer who prepares a return or
claim with an understatement of liability: (1) in a willful attempt to understate the liability; or (2)
with a reckless and intentional disregard of rules or regulations.

113. Brown Sr. is subject to penalty under Code section 6694(a) because he prepared
returns for customers that underreported his customers’ tax liabilities and that he knew or should
have known contained positions for which there was no substantial authority or for which there
was no reasonable basis.

114. Brown Sr. is subject to penalty under Code section 6694(b) because he willfully
prepared tax returns for customers that he knew contained incorrect filing statuses, fabricated
business income and expenses, false unreimbursed business expenses and charitable

contributions, and false Schedule E rental losses.
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115. Brown Sr. is subject to penalty under Code section 6695(c) because he failed to
furnish his correct preparer identifying number (“PTIN”) on 92 tax returns he prepared in 2015.

116. Anything less than a permanent injunction and complete bar on the preparation of
tax returns is unlikely to stop Brown Sr. from preparing fraudulent tax returns. Brown Sr. has
shown flagrant disregard for the internal revenue laws. Not only is it his pattern to file
fraudulent returns, but Brown Sr. has continued his fraudulent activity, despite receiving notice
of IRS investigations into his fraudulent activity. There is a high likelihood that he will continue
his schemes if he is merely barred from filing improper returns.

Count II: Injunction under 26 U.S.C. § 7408 for Violation of 26 U.S.C. § 6701

117. The United States incorporates by reference the allegations in paragraphs 1
through 116.
118. A court is authorized to issue an injunction if an income tax preparer engages in

conduct subject to penalty under 26 U.S.C. § 6701, pursuant to 26 U.S.C. § 7408.

119. Code section 6701 penalizes any person who (1) aids or assists in, procures, or
advises with respect to, the preparation or presentation of any portion of a return, affidavit, claim
or other document; (2) knows (or has reason to believe) that such portion will be used in
connection with any material matter arising under the internal revenue laws; and (3) knows that
such portion (if so used) would result in an understatement of the liability for tax of another
person.

120. Brown Sr. has engaged in conduct subject to penalty under Code section 6701 by
preparing and filing fraudulent tax returns on behalf of customers who obtain unwarranted

refunds as a result.
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121. Brown Sr. is subject to penalty under Code section 6701 because he prepared
returns that he knew or had reason to know would be used as to material matters under federal
tax law and that he knew would result in understatements of customers’ tax liability.

122. The schemes Brown Sr. has used have caused and continue to cause substantial
harm to the Government by fraudulently reducing his customers’ reported tax liabilities,
inducing the IRS to issue fraudulent refunds, and obstructing the IRS’s efforts to administer
federal tax laws.

123. The magnitude of the lost tax revenue caused by Brown Sr.’s fraudulent conduct
1s substantial. As discussed above, the IRS estimates the tax loss to the Government to be well in
excess of $1 million.

124. The United States also is harmed because the IRS must continually devote its
limited resources to detecting and examining inaccurate returns filed by Brown Sr., and to
attempting to assess and collect unpaid taxes from his customers.

125. An injunction against Brown Sr. is necessary and appropriate to prevent the
recurrence of his conduct, subject him to penalty under Code section 6701, and to prevent him

from engaging in any other conduct subject to penalty under the Internal Revenue Code.

Count III: Injunction under I.R.C. § 7402(a) for Unlawful Interference with
Enforcement of the Internal Revenue Laws and Appropriateness of Injunctive Relief

126. The United States incorporates by reference the allegations in paragraphs 1
through 125.

127. A court is authorized to issue orders of injunction as may be necessary or
appropriate to enforce the internal revenue laws, pursuant to 26 U.S.C. § 7402(a).
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128. Code section 7402(a) expressly provides that its injunction remedy is “in addition
to and not exclusive of” other remedies for enforcing the internal revenue laws.

129. Brown Sr.’s activities described above substantially interfere with the
enforcement of the internal revenue laws because his preparation and filing of numerous
fraudulent tax returns resulted in customers not paying their true federal tax liabilities and
receiving tax refunds to which they were not entitled.

130. An injunction prohibiting Brown Sr. from preparing or assisting in the preparation
of tax returns is needed to stop him from preparing or filing fraudulent tax returns and to prohibit
him from otherwise interfering with the proper administration and enforcement of the internal
revenue laws now and in the future.

131. Given that Brown Sr. has continued his misconduct despite the IRS investigations
described above, he is likely to continue to engage in illegal conduct in the future unless enjoined
by this Court.

132. If Brown Sr. is not enjoined, the United States will suffer irreparable harm from
the underpayment of taxes and the exhaustion of resources to enforce the internal revenue laws.

133. The public interest would be advanced by enjoining Brown Sr. because an
injunction will stop his illegal conduct and stop the harm that conduct is causing the United
States Treasury and the public.

134. An injunction under Section 7402 is necessary and appropriate, and the United
States is entitled to injunctive relief under Section 7402. The injunction, as detailed below,

should bar Brown Sr., and anyone acting in concert with him, from preparing or filing tax returns
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for others, representing customers before the IRS, and from otherwise engaging in conduct that
interferes with the proper administration of the internal revenue laws.

WHEREFORE, the United States of America, prays for the following:

A. That the Court find that Brown Sr. has continually and repeatedly engaged in conduct
subject to penalty under 26 U.S.C. §§ 6694 and 6695, that, pursuant to 26 U.S.C. § 7407, an
injunction merely prohibiting conduct subject to penalty under §§ 6694 and 6695 would not be
sufficient to prevent Brown Sr.’s interference with the proper administration of the tax laws, and
that Brown Sr. should be permanently enjoined from acting as an income tax return preparer;

B. That the Court find that Brown Sr. has engaged in conduct subject to penalty under 26
U.S.C. § 6701, and that injunctive relief under 26 U.S.C. § 7408 is appropriate to prevent a
recurrence of that conduct;

C. That the Court find that Brown Sr. has interfered with the enforcement of the internal
revenue laws and that injunctive relief is appropriate to prevent the recurrence of that conduct
pursuant to 26 U.S.C. §§ 7402(a) under the Court’s inherent equity powers;

D. That this Court, pursuant to 26 U.S.C. §§ 7402(a), 7407, and 7408, enter a permanent
injunction enjoining Brown Sr., his officers, agents, servants, employees, and attorneys, and
anyone in active concert or participation with him or with them, from directly or indirectly:

1. Preparing or filing, or assisting in preparing or filing, any federal tax return,
amended return, or other federal tax document or form for any person other than
himself;

2. Representing any person before the IRS, or advising, assisting, counseling, or

instructing anyone about preparing a federal tax return;
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3. Having an ownership interest in an entity that is in the business of preparing
federal tax returns or other federal tax documents or forms for other persons or
representing any person before the IRS, or advising, assisting, counseling, or
instructing anyone about preparing a federal tax return;

4. Engaging in conduct subject to penalty under 26 U.S.C. §§ 6694, 6695, or 6701;

5. Maintaining, assigning, holding, using, or obtaining a Preparer Tax
Identification Number (PTIN) or an Electronic Filing Identification Number
(EFIN);

6. Employing any person who prepares or files, or assists in preparing or filing,
any federal tax return, amended return, or other federal tax document or form
for any person;

7. Advertising tax return preparation services through any medium, including the
internet and social media; and,

8. Engaging in other conduct that substantially interferes with the proper
administration and enforcement of the internal revenue laws.

E. That the Court, pursuant to 26 U.S.C. § 7402(a), 7407, and 7408, enter an order requiring
Brown Sr. to produce to counsel for the United States, within thirty days of the Court’s order, a
list that identifies by name, social security number, address, e-mail address, and telephone
number and tax period(s) all persons for whom he prepared federal tax returns or claims for a
refund, for tax years beginning in 2010 and continuing through this litigation;

F. That the Court, pursuant to I.LR.C. §§ 7402(a), 7407, and 7408, enter an order requiring

Brown Sr., within 30 days of receiving the Court’s order, to contact by U.S. mail and, if an e-
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mail address is known, by e-mail, all persons for whom he has prepared federal tax returns,

amended tax returns, or claims for refund since January 2011, as well as all employees or

independent contractors he has had since January 2011, and to inform them of the permanent

injunction entered against him by sending each of them a copy of the order of permanent

injunction, with no other enclosures unless approved by the Department of Justice or the Court;

G. That the Court, pursuant to I.LR.C. §§ 7402(a), 7407, and 7408, enter an order requiring

Brown Sr., within 45 days of receiving the Court’s order, to file a declaration, signed under

penalty of perjury, confirming that he has received a copy of the Court’s order and complied

with the terms described in Paragraphs F and G of this Complaint.

H. That this Court permit the United States to conduct post-judgment discovery to ensure

Brown Sr.’s compliance with the permanent injunction; and

I.  That this Court retain jurisdiction over Brown Sr. and over this action to enforce any

injunction entered against him; and

J.  That this Court grant the United States such other relief as the Court deems appropriate.
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